

"An exploratory analysis of the effects of organizational culture of Islamic banks in Turkey on employee engagement and employee retention."

By Fatih Karademir

MA in Human Resource Management | National College of Ireland Submitted to the National College of Ireland, May 2024



National College of Ireland

Project Submission Sheet

Student Name:	Fatih Karademir		
Student ID:	22198229		
Programme:	Human Resources Management	Year:	2024
Module:	Research Methods		
Supervisor:	Pauline Kelly PHELAN		
Submission Due Date:	06.05.2024		
Project Title:	An exploratory analysis of the effects of organizational culture of Islamic banks in Turkey on employee engagement and employee retention.		
Word Count:	15296		

I hereby certify that the information contained in this (my submission) is information pertaining to research I conducted for this project. All information other than my own contribution will be fully referenced and listed in the relevant bibliography section at the rear of the project.

<u>ALL</u> internet material must be referenced in the references section. Students are encouraged to use the Harvard Referencing Standard supplied by the Library. To use other author's written or electronic work is illegal (plagiarism) and may result in disciplinary action. Students may be required to undergo a viva (oral examination) if there is suspicion about the validity of their submitted work.

I. Kur

Signature:

Date:

May 2024

PLEASE READ THE FOLLOWING INSTRUCTIONS:

- 1. Please attach a completed copy of this sheet to each project (including multiple copies).
- 2. Projects should be submitted to your Programme Coordinator.
- 3. You must ensure that you retain a HARD COPY of ALL projects, both for your own reference and in case a project is lost or mislaid. It is not sufficient to keep a copy on computer. Please do not bind projects or place in covers unless specifically requested.
- 4. You must ensure that all projects are submitted to your Programme Coordinator on or before the required submission date. Late submissions will incur penalties.
- All projects must be submitted and passed in order to successfully complete the year. Any 5. project/assignment not submitted will be marked as a fail.

Office Use Only	
Signature:	
Date:	
Penalty Applied (if applicable):	

AI Acknowledgement Supplement

Research Methods

An exploratory analysis of the effects of organizational culture of Islamic banks in Turkey on employee engagement and employee retention.

Your Name/Student Number	Course		Date
Fatih Karademir/22198229	Human Management	Resources	04.05.2024

This section is a supplement to the main assignment, to be used if AI was used in any capacity in the creation of your assignment; if you have queries about how to do this, please contact your lecturer. For an example of how to fill these sections out, please click <u>here</u>.

AI Acknowledgment

This section acknowledges the AI tools that were utilized in the process of completing this assignment.

Tool Nan	ne	Brief Description	Link to tool
ChatGPT		Brainstorming in 2 topics of the research	https://chat.openai.com/

Description of AI Usage

This section provides a more detailed description of how the AI tools were used in the assignment. It includes information about the prompts given to the AI tool, the responses received, and how these responses were utilized or modified in the assignment. **One table should be used for each tool used**.

[Insert Tool Name]			
ChatGPT was used to generate ideas about potent retention strategies.			
Can you tell me what effects the employee retention and engagement ?	Factors influencing employee retention and engagement include: Strong leadership Opportunities for growth Recognition and rewards Work-life balance Inclusive culture Effective communication		

Clear job roles
Supportive environment
Feedback and performance management
Alignment with organizational values
Competitive compensation
Social connection opportunities

Evidence of AI Usage

This section includes evidence of significant prompts and responses used or generated through the AI tool. It should provide a clear understanding of the extent to which the AI tool was used in the assignment. Evidence may be attached via screenshots or text.

Additional Evidence:

S ChatGPT

Certainly! Here's a condensed version:

Factors influencing employee retention and engagement include:

- 1. Strong leadership
- 2. Opportunities for growth
- 3. Recognition and rewards
- 4. Work-life balance
- 5. Inclusive culture
- 6. Effective communication
- 7. Clear job roles
- 8. Supportive environment
- 9. Feedback and performance management
- 10. Alignment with organizational values
- 11. Competitive compensation
- 12. Social connection opportunities

These factors collectively contribute to employee satisfaction, motivation, and commitment, ultimately leading to higher retention rates and increase \checkmark igagement within the organization.

Abstract

Organizational culture plays a very important role in companies' success, achieving goals, happiness, working environment, motivation, and many other work-related issues. While today's companies shape their organizational cultures with the concern for equality and justice, they aim to exclude many issues that can be considered discrimination or sensitive for people. Participation Banks in Turkey, on the other hand, incorporate religion into their organizational culture, which can affect people's lifestyles, world politics, relations between countries and people, and even indirectly their economies.

In the study, employee retention and engagement were evaluated based on the impact of Islam on organizational culture in these banks. 14 people who worked for at least 2 years in the largest participation banks in Turkey were interviewed and the study was supported by existing academic studies. Although there are studies on the relationship between organizational culture, employee retention, motivation and commitment, there is not enough academic studies about how a value that is more sensitive for people and may be risky for the company should be a part of the culture. With this study, the impact of sensitive values within the organizational culture will be analyzed.

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation National College of Ireland Research **Students Declaration Form**

(Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Fatih Karademir

Student Number: 22198229

Degree for which thesis is submitted: MA in Human Resource Management

Material submitted for award

- (a) I declare that the work has been composed by myself.
- (b) I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.
- (c) My thesis will be included in electronic format in the College Institutional Repository NORMA (thesis reports and projects).
- (d) I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been used in any other submission for an academic award.

Date: May 2024

Signature of research student: Fully

Contents

Abstract	5
1.Introduction	9
2. Literature Review	11
2.1. Organizational Culture	11
2.1.1. Benefits of Organizational Culture to an Organization	12
2.2. Employee Engagement	14
2.2.1. Benefits of Employee Engagement to an Organization	15
2.3. Employee Retention	18
2.3.1 Importance of Employee Retention	19
2.4. Islamic/Participation Banking	20
2.5. Turkish Workforce Analysis within the Framework of Islamic Religion	21
3. Research Question	23
3.1. Title	23
3.2. Aim and Objective	23
4. Methodology	24
4.1. Philosophy	24
4.2. Qualitative Approach	25
4.2.1. Stakeholder Analysis	25
4.2.2. One on One Qualitative Interviews	26
4.3. Sample Groups	28
4.4. Ethical Considerations	29
5. Findings	29
5.1. Data Collection Process	29
5.2. Interview Report	31
5.2.1. A freer and more respectful environment for me	31
5.2.2. I wouldn't change my job for money	32
5.2.3. We share common goals, thoughts and feelings	34
5.2.4. Emotional or intellectual commitment to culture is a must	35
5.2.5. I am building a career and getting emotional satisfaction	36
6. Discussion	38
6.1. Research Problem	38
6.2. Findings	39
6.2.1. A freer and more respectful environment for me	39
6.2.2. I wouldn't change my job for money	41

	6.2.3. We share common goals, thoughts and feelings	. 42
	6.2.4. Emotional or intellectual commitment to culture is a must	. 43
	6.2.5. I am building a career and getting emotional satisfaction	. 45
e	5.3. Future Research	. 46
7. (Conclusion	. 46
7	7.1. Recommendations to HR practices by author	. 46
7	7.2. Personal Learning Statement	. 48
Ref	erence List	. 49
Арр	oendix	. 56
I	nterview Questions	. 56
0	Data Privacy and Policy Document	. 57

1.Introduction

The culture of organizations determines many dynamics within their structure. People's clothing preferences, communication styles, management style, business environment, employee experience and dozens of similar issues are directly or indirectly affected by organizational culture (Sindakis *et al.*, 2024) For the benefit of the company and the employees, all employees, together with the HR teams, must constantly strengthen this culture. Also, rapid adaptation of a new employee to the company culture is among the important priorities of human resources departments. Organizations that want to make profit or achieve a goal choose to shape their culture according to the expectations of their employees to increase the engagement and loyalty of their successful employees or employ employees who are suitable for their existing culture (Fuller, 2015). Thus, not only salary and career expectations, but also the emotional attachment to the company can motivate the employee to do more.

When considering the concepts that connect the employee to the workplace and increase their motivation, issues such as career, salary, learning, and development are the first ones that come to mind. Apart from these, the emotional and intellectual attachment of the employee to the organization can be considered as a much deeper bond (Untaru, 2024). Because different institutions can easily offer higher wages, transfers with promotions or better development programs. However, it is not possible to provide the emotional and intellectual satisfaction that organizational culture can provide. Religion is the set of ideas and emotions that direct the lives of people who choose to live this way in today's world. Considered this way, religious influences in a company's organizational culture and functioning can offer a unique experience to its employees.

Islamic banks operating under the name "participation banking" in Turkey are one of the most suitable research areas to answer questions about the relationship between organizational culture, employee retention, employee engagement and religion. In this study, the effects of religion on the organizational culture of participation banks will be evaluated through interviews with current and former employees of participation banks in Turkey. It will then be analyzed how this culture helps employee engagement and focus. In order for the study to be more objective, employees with different positions and titles will be interviewed. Three samples will be created: human resources employees, head office employees and branch employees. These groups will be selected from people who have at least 2 years of experience in participation banks, are currently working in participation banks or have previously worked in participation banks.

The aim of the study is to prove that employees who feel mentally and emotionally connected to a company have a much deeper engagement and commitment. By examining previous academic research on Islamic banking, organizational culture, employee engagement and employee engagement, existing knowledge gaps will be identified, and the importance of this study will be emphasized. As a result of the study, it will be understood that companies should focus on abstract issues as well as some concrete issues when designing their human resources strategies. By ensuring that the organizational culture is accepted among employees, companies can achieve sustainable success by ensuring that their talented employees are not tempted by other companies. How to ensure employee retention and employee engagement by including a sensitive concept such as religion within the organizational culture will be explained in detail.

The study will analyze the topic as follows:

Chapter Two: This chapter will provide further details about Organizational Culture, Employee Engagement, Employee Retention, and Participation Banking with literature review.

Chapter Three: The research question will be introduced, and the aim of the dissertation will be clearly explained.

Chapter Four: The methodology used will be stated. The reasons for choosing this methodology and why it is the right approach will be explained.

Chapter Five: Findings will be shared in this section. The found data will be analyzed and a more in-depth understanding of the subject will be provided.

Chapter Six: A discussion on the subject will be shared. The data will be interpreted and its meaning for the research question will be evaluated. Questions such as what the key findings are, what is their importance for human resources employees, and what future research can be done on this subject will be answered.

Chapter Seven: The study will be completed with the recommendations given by the author in this field and a Personal Learning Statement which summarizes the learning outcome of this study.

2. Literature Review

There is no sufficient study in the literature on how religious influences in organizational culture affect employee retention, engagement and motivation, and there is a gap in the studies in this field. A literature review was conducted in order to have a comprehensive understanding of organizational culture, Islamic banking, employee retention, engagement and motivation and to analyze the effects of these issues on human resources management.

By using the literature review NCI library online platform, the necessary resources were accessed with the keywords at the center of the research. For example, "Organizational Culture", "Employee Retention", "Employee Engagement", "Islamic Banking", "Sharia Rules in Banking", "Participation Banking", "Motivation", "HRM", "Human Resources".

2.1. Organizational Culture

Any business, regardless of its scale, exists with at least one person first. As the number of people working in businesses increases, the need for organization emerges. Different dynamics that develop over time cause the organizational structure to become more complex (Huang *et al.*, 2023). Organizing relationships, creating correct workflows, and developing a working environment with defined processes are among the primary duties of human resources teams and managers (Miletić *et al.*, 2023). With the combination of all these components, company culture is formed over time. Rather than written and mandatory rules, organizational culture is a whole formed by the habits of company employees, how they behave in the work environment, how they communicate with each other, and symbolic or emotional states that all employees can share, except for the job itself (Mercadal, 2023). In other words, it is the order that shapes employee behavior that contributes to a more successful management of the company.

Organizations consist of individuals with different cultural mosaics. These individuals came together with task and professional norms and criteria, and as a natural result of forming a group together, they created a system of beliefs and values that were different from other organizations, but relatively common within themselves (Halmaghi, 2023). This system helps the coexistence of different beliefs, values, attitudes, ways of thinking and morality within the organization, and this is known as 'organizational culture'.

In short, organizational culture is the sum of the beliefs, values and interaction methods that create the environment of an organization. Organizational culture encompasses the core values of a company or business. It also reflects the expectations and philosophy of an organization and the experiences of employees and leaders within it, and often determines the future direction of the group (Raziq *et al.*, 2024). Culture in an organization governs many things, from how decisions are made to how employees interact. Learning more about the company's culture will help employees understand whether the company has the same values as they do. Additionally, understanding the organization's core values in the context of its culture will help determine whether the company will be a healthy environment for employees.

There may be many different factors that affect the culture of companies. It may be necessary to analyze the positive or negative effects of these elements on employees and approach the organizational culture as a living entity, developing and changing it over time. Although this change often occurs naturally, the basic feeling or thought will not change deeply. For example, even if there are minor changes in the organizational culture of a company with intense competition in its culture, the fundamental working environment will always be competitive. Based on this, since religion is a factor that can change people's behavior at every point of their lives in today's world, it is certain that it will affect employees when religious goals and rules are included in the organizational culture.

2.1.1. Benefits of Organizational Culture to an Organization

The values revealed by the organizational culture regarding employees determine the extent of the individual's integration with the organization. Communication with managers is stronger when individuals are considered part of the organization. The mental and emotional parallelism of management to employees is an effective motivation tool if it can be directed well. On the other hand, when individuals are perceived only as tools to achieve the goals of the organization, it is clear that individual-organization integration cannot be achieved easily.

It is seen that the values, attitudes, beliefs, habits, traditions, and similar cultural characteristics to which organizations adhere are also reflected in social activities. Meetings, ceremonies and similar activities that intensify the relationships of organizational members with each other and with the external environment also enable the individual to integrate with the organizational culture. Graduation ceremonies or meetings held in academic uniforms are traditional behaviors that reflect the culture of universities. Collective physical exercises performed in some organizations aim not only for the physical health of employees, but also for group behavior. These and similar activities, shaped according to the values developed in different organizations, strengthen the sense of belonging in individuals.

Culture, which is formed as a result of certain influences and a process in businesses, has some benefits for managers and employees in businesses. These can be listed as:

- Perhaps the most important factor for individuals working in businesses to stay and continue working in that business is their ability to achieve their personal goals (Imran *et al.*, 2022). However, it cannot be said that every employee works happily and peacefully. In these cases, people may have to work even if they do not want to for various reasons. In such a situation, psychological disorders called dissatisfaction or depression and degradation occur. Organizational culture is an important factor in eliminating these discomforts.
- Organizational culture causes employees to understand certain standards, norms and values, and thus to be more determined and consistent in order to achieve the level of performance expected from them, and to increase their degree of harmony with their superiors (Nofriadi *et al.*, 2024). It also increases job satisfaction.
- Organizational culture has a very important role in intra-organizational communication and interpersonal relations (Usman, 2019). Culture connects individuals to each other and to the organization; It provides togetherness and develops the feeling of "we". By improving the organizational climate in a positive way, it can prevent groupings and dualities within the organization if a broad consensus is achieved in the organizational culture.
- Conflicts may arise in organizations for various reasons. Conflicts arising from goals, conflicts arising from differences in perception, conflicts arising from intraorganizational dependency, can be rationalized or softened through some standard practices and procedures brought by the organizational culture (Ferine *et al.*, 2021).
- Just as general judgments about a society are derived from the cultural identity of that society; Evaluations about an organization are made with the culture of that organization. Culture is like a promotional identity. Traces of organizational culture can be found in behavior, attitude, and relationships within and outside the organization.
- Organizational culture contributes to the training and development of new managers by helping them acquire knowledge, skills and behavior.

Organizational culture provides many benefits for managers and other personnel working for that organization.

2.2. Employee Engagement

Employee engagement and organizational culture have always been directly related to each other. It has been the subject of many academic studies that the success rate will be higher in organizations where employees are emotionally or intellectually committed (Froiland, 2024).

Employee engagement is the alignment of employees working in an organization with their own goals and interests and the vision and goals of the organization. Employees who establish a bond with the institution they work for will be happy and will work to provide the maximum benefit they can for the development and profit of their institution (Ramdhani and Djamil, 2024).

Ensuring the engagement of all employees, as well as retaining key people and talents in institutions, gains special importance. Employee engagement enables people to continue their activities successfully in institutions. This directly affects the achievement of corporate goals without loss of time and labor (Maulia, 2023).

As factors affecting employee engagement, we can list topics such as motivation, salary, social rights, leadership, management style, working environment, and resources provided to the person (Masharyono *et al.*, 2023). These factors may increase or change according to today's conditions and the field of activity of the business.

Job descriptions of employees, work processes, goals, objectives, and structure of the organization should be clearly designed (Erika *et al.*, 2023). A balance must be struck between being in a managerial position and establishing close relationships with employees. Expectations regarding leadership should be defined and managers should be trained accordingly. The manager's empathy with the employees, his ability to respond to requests and expectations, and his ability to gain the trust of his employees increases employee engagement.

Giving employees the right to have a say in the decisions to be made, allowing them to express their opinions, being freely involved in the work, and ensuring that they can take initiative in their own areas of responsibility plays an important role in employee loyalty (Bora, 2024). With a management style that empowers employees, employees can be made to feel happier and more self-confident in their companies, as well as revealing their potential.

Managers need to make an effort to ensure that the physical working environment is sufficient to meet expectations and needs, and that the communication established between all individuals coming together under the roof of the institution is positive. Physical environments and facilities that appeal to employees' ideas and desires strengthen the feeling that this is the right workplace for them.

It becomes very valuable for managers to provide their employees with the resources they need to increase their performance, contribute to their professional development, advance their employees, and thus connect them to the organization (Cin and Sönmez, 2024). Human resources teams can also support engagement through training and development by diversifying the training employees receive in the areas in which they want to improve themselves and by promising more in terms of continuous learning.

In order for employees to feel their contribution and involvement in the work, their suggestions should be taken and encouraged with rewards (Zhu *et al.*, 2022). Providing incentives by increasing salaries or giving rewards after a certain development can create employee loyalty. Payments that do not constitute a significant expense for companies, such as bonuses, promotions, and gift certificates, can mean a lot to employees. Because employees understand that their success is noticed in this company and are motivated to do more.

People may need motivation from time to time. It may not always be possible for an employee to work with full motivation and potential. Some requests and needs may need to be met. Whether or not these demands and needs are met directly affects the job performance of employees. Knowing the right motivation methods and applying them at the right time according to the employee is another important factor affecting engagement.

2.2.1. Benefits of Employee Engagement to an Organization

Employee engagement refers to the emotional connection employees have to their companies, their work, their managers, their teams, and their company's mission. This bond leads them to do more than "the job assigned to them". They can combine their passion with their work, and this has many benefits for both them and their companies. These benefits can be listed as follows:

Productivity increase:

According to Gallup's report, connected teams achieve up to 17% more productivity (Jim, 2017). Since productivity is one of the parameters that is most reflected in financial results, indirectly increasing employee loyalty can also be beneficial in this direction. Since engaged

employees find their jobs more meaningful, they tend to do more work in less time, which means increased productivity (Al Zeer *et al.*, 2023). Again, engaged employees work more effectively than happy employees. Happiness and satisfaction are an "inner" emotion, but engagement means effectiveness and efficiency.

Decrease in turnover rate:

Engaged employees leave their companies less frequently under similar circumstances, and the emotional strength that ties them to the company enables them to stay and put in more effort (Kossyva *et al.*,2024). We also know that after an employee leaves the company unintentionally, finding an employee who can do the same job in a similar way, adapting to the culture, training, and reaching a certain level can create an additional cost of up to 2.5 times the annual cost of the employee who left the company.

Increased customer happiness:

Engaged employees provide better service to their customers. Studies show that customer satisfaction is up to 10% higher in organizations with more committed employees (Michel *et al.*,2023). We actually experience this every day, especially if we come across a committed employee in the service sector, as a customer we leave more satisfied and often spend more.

Revenue growth:

Making employees more engaged can also increase revenue. Increasing income becomes even more possible because engaged employees work with enthusiasm and passion, want to do more than their share, and find their work meaningful.

Less absenteeism:

Studies show that engaged employees show less "unreasonable absence" behavior. This is important both for the person's psychology and for work output and productivity. Employees who are disengaged, looking for another job, and who are incompatible with the company may engage in the behavior of not coming to work more and making excuses (Jha and Kumar, 2016).

Increased work quality:

Engaged employees are not only more productive but also do higher quality work because they love what they do, work enthusiastically with their teams and managers around a goal, and see their contribution to the company's mission (Oke *et al.*, 2023). This also brings with it positive

behaviors such as expressing themselves, presenting new ideas, doing business more carefully, and being able to ask for help when necessary.

More contribution to positive culture:

Engaged employees generally work enthusiastically at work and contribute their positive and high-energy attitudes to the company culture (Utami *et al.*, 2023). Their desire to serve the mission and achieve the vision can be contagious. They participate more in team work, contribute more to meetings, and can be more constructive in conflicts. They honor the organization they are in by feeling like it is their own company. Thus, in addition to the benefits we have conveyed numerically, they also make an extremely positive contribution culturally.

More creativity:

As engaged employees express themselves more freely, they also find the opportunity to be more creative. Organizations that encourage and reward their employees to be more creative have more committed employees (Singh and Phoolka, 2024). This is also a feature that increases autonomy. Employees who can autonomously take responsibility for their decisions are more creative.

More loyalty:

Engaged employees are proud of their company outside the company as well, and can act as advertisers, references, or defenders. Nowadays, every reference is very valuable, and organizations where every employee acts like a sales manager are more successful. Engaged employees are proud of their company, carry their work ethically with honor, and are natural marketing of their company (Basheer *et al.*, 2019).

More suggestions to develop work:

Engaged employees make more suggestions and embrace them to improve the company, speed up processes and increase quality. They can make suggestions outside their own fields, exchanges ideas with different people in the company, and prefers open communication for the betterment of his team and his business.

Less labor loss:

In the research conducted by Gallup, disengaged employees do not do some work and do not contribute because they are not connected "when they could". This shows that approximately one-third of the salary paid to them is wasted. We see that this cost decreases as we increase

loyalty. With a simple calculation, if the rate of disengaged employees in your company is 20%, which is an extremely likely rate, you are throwing away 6.7% of your total salary budget as the cost of disengagement.

During this period, employee engagement has become even more important. Team leaders' ability to create engaged teams is making an impact. Increasing employee engagement is moving up companies' to-do lists, and every step in this direction is invaluable.

2.3. Employee Retention

With the global changes taking place today, it has become more important for organizations to keep up with the changes to survive. In the process of keeping up with change, organizations need their employees. It can be said that the superiority of an organization among its competitors is only possible to the extent of the abilities of its employees. For this reason, it is of great importance for organizations to obtain especially talented employees and keep these employees at work for a long time.

Employee retention, in its most general definition, is "keeping the right employee in the right job" for every organization (Froiland, 2023). This concept also refers to the employment policies and practices used by organizations to encourage valuable employees to remain committed to their jobs. With a different definition, employee retention is the ability of an organization to retain its employees. In this case, retention can be thought of as a strategy based on the efforts made by an organization to retain its employees. In other words, this concept includes measures that encourage employees to stay in the organization for the maximum period.

The concept of retention begins long before an employee's first day on the job. As a matter of fact, the employee's desire to stay at the job begins when the organization official makes the job description, continues during the interviews and job acceptance stages, and becomes stronger when the job orientation is carried out (Al Maalouf *et al.*, 2023). In other words, the concept of retention is affected by organizational culture, job descriptions, empowerment, selection, and employee orientation.

When the above definitions are examined, the concept of employee retention can be expressed as strategies to prevent employees, especially talented employees, from staying in the organization for a long time or from moving to rival organizations (Tiwari *et al.*, 2023). The reason why organizations implement practices to keep employees at work is because they realize the importance of the employee as an organization and as a business.

2.3.1 Importance of Employee Retention

Contemporary organization and management theories accept human resources as vital for the organization. Accordingly, it can be inferred that employees are the main factor in the rise and fall of organizational effectiveness. For this reason, it is very important not to lose talented employees and, moreover, not to transfer these employees to rival organizations (Popescu and Ciorei, 2023). Because losing a talented employee in a key position for an organization; In addition to having a negative impact on their individual creativity, the break in the relationship will cause difficulties in re-orienting the new employee and adapting them to the requirements of the job.

High labor turnover is a significant problem for organizations. For this reason, achieving a reasonable rate of labor turnover plays a vital role for organizations. Because organizations with high labor turnover cannot benefit from their employees efficiently, cannot find good employees and cannot ensure that their employees stay in the organization for a long time (Alam, 2023). Therefore, in today's competitive environment, it is important for organizations to focus on employee retention to ensure employee loyalty and manage workforce turnover. Employee retention is not only important to reduce the cost of labor turnover or the cost of training new employees at work. In other words, the most important reason for keeping employees at work is not to lose talented employees. As a matter of fact, it is very difficult to find replacements for talented employees in the competitive talent market. Academic resources have found a positive relationship between employee retention and organizational performance (Hausknecht *et al.*, 2009). Employee retention is the building block for an organization to gain a competitive advantage among other organizations.

Considering what has been discussed above, it is possible to state that employee retention is related to labor turnover. Losing talented employees has a high cost to the organization. As a result, it can be stated that the performance of the organization is negatively affected. Therefore, it is considered important to know the factors that affect employee retention and for organizations to provide the necessary conditions to their employees.

2.4. Islamic/Participation Banking

When the banking system is discussed, one of the major instruments that comes to mind is interest. In fact, interest is almost synonymous with conventional banking. On the other hand, since the Islamic religion prohibits all transactions related to interest, the commercial activities of Muslim societies are endangered, and it makes it impossible for people who define themselves as religious to work in/with conventional banks that operate with interest (Bynum, 2022).

Participation banks, which operate accordingly to sharia law, or the moral code comes from the Qur'an and Islamic practices and refuse to do business with sectors that are religiously prohibited (weapons, alcohol, drugs, etc.), creates employment opportunities in the banking sector for people with these beliefs (Islam, 2024). It can be assumed that the religious sensitivity of the employees working in participation banks is high, and it can be evaluated that the employees in these banks are highly influenced by this religious culture as well as the employer brand, career opportunities, compensations etc.

Participation Banks operate in accordance with Islamic rules and differ from conventional banks. Interest, the most important instrument of conventional banks, is prohibited by Islam. Participation Banks, on the other hand, carry out banking activities without using any of the interest-bearing transactions and products. For this reason, they have opened the doors of banking to millions of customers who want to live by the rules of Islam and who do not want to make interest-bearing transactions that Islam prohibits (Ramadhani and Bilen, 2024). Participation banks' employees are expected to comply with these Sharia rules in every transaction or project they carry out. Therefore, religious rules and way of thinking have become part of the organizational culture.

Religious goals and expectations within the organizational culture make participation banks not only a company with career opportunities for many employees, but also a place where employees can reflect their own ideas into the workplace.

Participation banking is a banking model that works in accordance with interest-free banking principles, carries out all kinds of banking activities within these principles, collects funds based on profit and loss participation, and provides funds through trade, partnership and financial leasing methods. There are many widespread examples of the Interest-Free Banking System around the world (Ali, 2023). There are more than 100 interest-free banks in the world. Examples of countries with interest-free banks include Switzerland, Luxembourg, Denmark,

the Philippines, the United States, the United Kingdom, South Africa and the Bahamas. Among the banks that have established interest-free banking units, Citibank, Union Bank of Switzerland, Kleinwort Benson, ANZ Grindlays, Goldman Sachs, United Bank of Kuwait and Arab Banking Corporation can be given as examples.

Participation banking meets the funding needs by receiving money from people under the name of profit share, in order to share in the profits and losses (Soumadi and Al Smadi, 2023). It makes savers share in bank transactions in proportion to the money they give. It makes profits by using the funds it obtains through dividends in trade and industry or by buying and selling foreign currency. It distributes the profit it makes among those who provide funds to the bank through dividends, in proportion to the funds they provide. While 80% of the profit is distributed as dividends, 20% remains in the bank as a corporate share.

Participation share, the funding model of the participation bank, is profit and loss sharing. In other words, making profit for those who give deposits to the participation bank under the name of participation share is not guaranteed (Tartan and Tetik, 2023). The account owner may incur losses. However, in practice, it is not generally encountered that the depositor suffers a loss. Participation banks do not work on the basis of a cash credit system, they help finance the purchase and sale of goods and invoiced or recorded transactions.

Participation banking, which has a different operation, generally has a pool system operation. In this process, income from financial leasing, money lent and other expenses are collected, and a share payment system is applied to investors for their contribution to participation (Toh and Jia, 2023). Participation banking aims to provide income to participants on a profit and loss basis, based on the principle of no interest, which is the main principle of participation banking. Instead of directly giving the principal to those who apply for a loan, what we call leasing is to buy the goods that the customer needs in advance from the seller and sell them on a deferred basis, rent them or form a partnership with the business owner in the form of a project.

2.5. Turkish Workforce Analysis within the Framework of Islamic Religion

99% of the Turkish population consists of Muslims, the remaining 1% consists of Orthodox, Catholic, Protestant, Assyrian, and other sects (Aydogdu *et al.* 2021). Everyone living in the country has freedom of religious belief. No one can be forced to worship, participate in religious rites and ceremonies, or express their religious beliefs (Smith, 2022). No one can be blamed or prevented from worshiping because of their religious beliefs. The rights and freedoms mentioned are protected by both laws and social rules. Since almost the entire society follows the religion of Islam, a different distribution in customers and workforce cannot be expected.

Even though it is observed that the effects of religion on social life have decreased in Turkish modernization, at the point reached today, the place of religion in Turkey continues to exist in the form of a reality that will rule out all kinds of speculation.

When the belief in the existence of God of the citizens living in Turkey is evaluated, the rate of those who say that they "believe that God really exists and is one and have no doubt about it" is 98.7% (Sohn *et al.*, 2023). When the belief in the existence of God is examined based on the variables of place of residence, gender and age group, it is seen that there is no significant difference in the beliefs about the existence of God in rural-urban, male-female and 18-65+ age groups. While the rate of those who are illiterate and believe that God really exists and is one, and who state that they have no doubt about it, is 99.7%, while this rate is 94.8% among those who have a bachelor's degree or higher (Sohn *et al.*, 2023).

The rate of those who agree with the proposition that people will be resurrected after death and will be held accountable for their actions is 96.2% across the country, while the rate of those who disagree is 0.9% (Sohn *et al.*, 2023). According to their educational status, the rate of those who agree with the proposition that people will be resurrected after death and will be held accountable for their actions is 97.1% among those who have not graduated from school, while this rate is 94.1% among those with a bachelor's degree or higher.

Across the country, the rate of those who say they are very religious is 19.4%, the rate of those who say they are religious is 68.1%, and the rate of those who say they are neither religious nor not is 10.2%. While the rate of those who say they are not religious is 1%, the rate of those who say they are not religious at all is 0.3%.

3. Research Question

3.1. Title

"An exploratory analysis of the effects of organizational culture of Islamic banks in Turkey on employee engagement and employee retention."

3.2. Aim and Objective

The intention of the author for this research is to qualitatively explore the deeper engagement and commitment of the participation banks' employees in Turkey who feel mentally and emotionally connected to their companies with the effects of religious culture. The problem this research intended to solve is the lack of data regarding the experiences of Islamic Banks' employees in the literature generally and its absence regarding the Turkish workforce specifically, and the effects of this deficit of information has on the ability of Human Resources teams who wants to increase the engagement and retention for their companies.

Based on literature review and interviews with Participation Bank employees in Turkey, this research will clarify the emotional effects of culture in companies on employees, the possible positive and negative outcomes of having a sensitive element such as religion at the center of company culture, and employee engagement.

With the basic sub-groups developed in the research question, it will be investigated whether the experiences that the Islamic Banking culture provides to the employees are the same in 3 different areas of the banks such as Branch, Head Office and Human Resources, and if there are differences, it will be investigated. Insight will be developed to answer questions such as whether employees feel the impact of culture the same regardless of their duties and titles, and whether having a religious culture puts employees under emotional pressure or motivates them.

The overall goal of the research question was to develop data that would ultimately be used by HRM to inform approaches to managing religious influences found in organizational culture, best policies and practices, and an employee-friendly organizational culture. As a result of the study, it will be understood that companies should focus on abstract issues as well as some concrete issues when designing their retention strategies. By ensuring that the organizational culture is accepted among employees, companies can achieve sustainable success by ensuring that their talented employees are not tempted by other companies. How to ensure employee retention and employee engagement by including a sensitive concept such as religion within the organizational culture will be explained in detail.

4. Methodology

4.1. Philosophy

The goal of this research was to explore and explain the experiences of participation bank employees, specifically in Turkey, and to provide know-how to inform Human Resources practices and policies.

The literature review showed the organizational cultures' direct effects on motivation, retention, and engagement. Existing academic research has shown that the objectives and ways of operating of Islamic banks can directly affect people's experiences and the way they do business. Since the loyalty employees feel to their companies and the pleasure, they get from working are subjectivist, the researcher focused on analyzing the social effects of the professional experiences of the sample groups using this philosophy.

While creating the philosophy, the researcher used Saunders *et al.*'s interpretive philosophical approach, defined by the six-layered "research onion", through subjectivist methodology (Saunders *et al.*, 2009). The most important outcome of interpretive research is to create new, richer understandings and interpretations of social worlds and contexts (Fonseca *et al.*, 2023). When studying social groups, for business and management researchers this means looking at organizations from the perspectives of different groups of people. By creating these groups appropriately, the aim is to approach the center of the layers in the onion. As each layer of the onion is peeled away, the study gets closer to the target, and it naturally follows that the research is therefore "inductive" rather than "deductive". These philosophies will serve the purpose of the study as themes such as commitment, religion, happiness, motivation and belonging are not possible with logical reasoning and are complicated by social feelings.

Using a phenomenological philosophy, the researcher structured his research by focusing on individuals' experiences, feelings, and meanings (Robinson and Williams, 2024). This approach aims to understand participants' personal experiences and perceptions by asking them the right questions. When examining the relationship of employees in Islamic banks with organizational culture, the influence of religion in the workplace, and their commitment to participants banks, qualitative data was focused on to understand the experiences of the participants and to discover how these experiences interact with the organizational culture.

4.2. Qualitative Approach

It is possible to define qualitative research as follows; "qualitative research is a method that adopts an interpretive approach to the multi-method research problem in focusing (on a certain point) (Naeem *et al.*, (2023). This means that qualitative researchers deal with the phenomena that are the subject of research in their own environments.

Human and social behavior is examined in social science fields such as psychology, sociology, anthropology and education. It is difficult to explain these behaviors with numbers. Measurements tell us how many people behave and how, but "why?" cannot answer the question.

In order to achieve the purpose of this research, it was decided that a quantitative approach would not be appropriate, and a qualitative approach would lead to results (Smith, 2023). The researcher was interested in qualitative approaches based on his personal education and 7 years of professional work experience in Human Resources. Additionally, as a Human Resources professional, he wants to understand people more and continue his work in this direction.

In each of the interviews, in-depth semi-structured interviews were conducted with the participants. Due to the difficulties of finding a relatively small portion of the Turkish workforce, the reference method was used to find interviewees in this research, often finding interviewees through personal contacts.

4.2.1. Stakeholder Analysis

According to organizational psychology, stakeholder analysis is a research approach based on the view of the existence of numerous relevant parties and groups around any phenomenon, affecting and/or being affected by the phenomenon itself and having an interest in it in some way (Gilstein, 2023).

It includes identifying all stakeholder groups that may be positively or negatively affected by the proposed project, determining, and analyzing the interests, problems, potentials, and other characteristics of these groups. The results of this analysis are then reflected in the project design.

Stakeholders: Individuals, groups of people, institutions/organizations or companies that have an interest in a project/program are defined as "stakeholders" (Khan *et al.*, 2019). They may be

directly or indirectly affected positively or negatively by the activities or outputs (results) of the project or programs or may affect the project process. Often different subgroups need to be considered.

Considering all interviewees as stakeholders, the researcher wanted to observe all the common effects through interviews. This analysis method, which is mostly used as a problem-solving or decision-making mechanism, supported the researcher in this research. The researcher was enabled to evaluate the experience in a larger context by making more general inferences.

4.2.2. One on One Qualitative Interviews

In order to achieve the purpose of the study, the researcher conducted one-on-one interviews to hear people's experiences. One-on-one interviews are one of the basic data collection methods of qualitative thesis studies and it is important that they are structured and conducted correctly (Stofer, 2019). Some critical points that the researcher pays attention to when conducting one-on-one interviews and the benefits of these interviews to the research are as follows:

Planning the Interview Structure:

The interview structure was planned by the researcher and an interview protocol was prepared. The researcher made this plan to better understand the participants' experiences, thoughts, and feelings. The protocol includes the questions to be followed during the interview, the duration of the interview, the topics, and the order to be followed during the interview. The researcher informed the participant approximately how much time will be spent for the interview. Information about the structure of the interview was also provided before the video recording.

Participant Selection and Invitation:

The researcher selected interviewees suitable for the purpose of his thesis and tried to interview people with various positions and titles. All the interviewees have worked in Islamic Banks in Turkey for at least 2 years. Most of them currently continue to work in Islamic Banks. In addition, to conduct more objective and rational research, interviews were organized with people who previously worked in Participation Banks but left their jobs for various reasons. While organizing the interviews with the participants, the researcher sent an information e-mail explaining the purpose of the research, the interview process, the personal data processing policy, and privacy policies.

Trust and Privacy:

Before the interview, the researcher tried to establish a trusting relationship with the interviewees and assured them that confidentiality would be ensured (Neves *et al.*,2023). It is guaranteed that the information obtained in the study will be used for academic purposes only. The fact that this study can raise awareness about Islamic Banking and the workplace culture of Islamic Banking in Turkey has increased the sympathy of the interview participants for the study. The researcher tried to create a friendly environment and exhibit an empathetic attitude to make the interviewees feel comfortable at every stage of the interview process.

Use of Open-Ended Questions:

The fact that one-on-one interviews provide the opportunity to collect in-depth and detailed data, which is the greatest benefit to research, is directly related to the questions to be asked (Kariya, 2002). The researcher used open-ended questions to ensure in-depth answers from the interviewees. The researcher asked using yes/no questions only to get more accurate answers to the original questions. Open-ended questions help gain a better understanding of the participant's thoughts and experiences. The questions in the pre-prepared interview protocol were used in the interviews, but flexibility was shown when necessary, considering that it could expand the topic and contribute to the study. The questions used in the interviews are shared in the Appendix section.

Listening and Observing:

During the interview, the researcher actively listened to the interviewee and focused on his statements. Not only the words spoken, but also body language and emotional expressions were taken into consideration by observation (Salmon *et al.*, 2012). Interviewees sometimes tended to give long answers to a question when they had specific experience with it. In order not to interrupt the emotional transfer, the relevance of some of the answers was not considered by the researcher. It is aimed to encourage the interviewees and provide the necessary environment for them to be more emotionally open. Interviews were conducted via the Microsoft Teams application and the interview transcript was automatically produced by the application. The researcher also took notes of the special and important sentences said by the interviewees with keywords, but at the same time tried to provide a natural dialogue environment by focusing completely on the participant.

Being understanding and empathetic:

The researcher strived to be empathetic throughout the entire research process and especially during the interviews. He has always been aware that interviewees may share emotional and challenging topics, as the research content will include sensitive topics such as employees' work experiences, religious beliefs, and the way they choose to live life. Regardless of the answer, judgmental, impulsive, or negative reactions were strictly avoided during the interviews.

The quality of the data is increased and enriched through one-on-one interviews, thus enabling more in-depth analysis in research. By directly interacting with participants through interviews, it helps you gain a more comprehensive understanding of the research topic. Having an emotional transfer can increase the consistency of the study and provide a richer understanding of the subject. One-on-one interviews are a valuable data collection method to improve the quality of the thesis study and answer research questions more comprehensively.

4.3. Sample Groups

The interviewees are basically divided into two groups: those who currently work in Islamic banks and those who have worked in Islamic banks in the recent past. The reason why the researcher included people who have previously worked in Islamic banks in the interview is to increase the objectivity of the research. These people will be able to share their negative thoughts in a more impartial way, without feeling guilty. Additionally, since they start working in a different sector, they can evaluate their experiences more clearly.

The researcher preferred to differentiate the sample groups in response to the risk that employees affected by the same culture under a common roof may have different levels of feeling this religious culture depending on their duties within the company. Therefore, the interview participants currently working in Islamic banks were selected from those working in different banks and positions, and the Participation Bank experience was evaluated in a broader context by considering all variables. In short, the researcher did not find it sufficient to measure the experience, for example, that all these participants were branch employees of one of the Participation Banks in Turkey. Interviews were held with people working in different positions and different Participation Banks in the Human Resources departments, Head Office positions and branches. Thus, the study, which is not limited to sales teams or Human Resources teams already trying to strengthen the organizational culture, will create a cleaner insight.

When selecting interview participants, the single most important criterion is that they have worked at the Participation Bank long enough to be able to talk about their experience. "Emic approach" was used during the interviews with the interview participants who had worked in Participation Banks for at least 2 years.

The term "emic approach" is a concept used in social sciences. This term refers to an approach in which a researcher attempts to understand and interpret a culture, or a particular situation, from the internal perspective of members of that group (Orey and Rosa, 2015). The emic approach adopts an internal perspective to understand the internal dynamics and meaning systems of a culture.

The emic approach requires researchers to act as an internal participant rather than an external observer. This approach emphasizes that researchers interact with and listen to members of a culture or society to understand their perspectives, values, beliefs, and behaviors.

4.4. Ethical Considerations

The researcher completed the NCI ethics review form and complied with the ethics-related guidelines outlined by the National College of Ireland. Due to research ethics, personal information of the participants will not be disclosed without their consent. The anonymity of the interviewees will be protected.

Since guaranteeing the anonymity of the participants' information would enable the researcher to obtain more objective and reliable results, information regarding confidentiality was provided before the interviews.

5. Findings

5.1. Data Collection Process

In order to proceed in a planned and step-by-step manner during the research process, the researcher analyzed the qualitative interviews with thematic analysis method.

Thematic analysis is a method of qualitative data analysis that involves reading a range of data and looking for patterns in the meaning of the data to find themes (Miller, 2023). It is a process of active reflexivity in which the researcher's subjective experience is central to making sense of the data.

Thematic analysis is a typical method in qualitative research. It emphasizes identifying, analyzing, and interpreting qualitative data patterns.

With this analysis, qualitative data can be looked at in a specific way. It is often used to describe a group of texts, such as an interview or a set of transcripts. The researcher looked closely at the data to find common themes: a specific focus on recurring ideas, topics, or ways of expressing things.

All stages of the thematic analysis method, defined by the researchers as six stages, were evaluated and used in this research (Miller, 2023).

As a first step, the researcher evaluated each of the sources to get to know them. Interviews, focus groups, observations, or document reviews have been completed. After having a basic overview of each piece, the researcher read it again to fully understand the information it presented. Critical points for the study were noted and any themes that emerged were observed to be aligned with the purpose of the study.

During the data coding phase, the researcher identified different patterns in the texts and interviews and grouped them into codes in a way that would be useful for his study. For example, interview transcripts are created and meaningfully edited at this stage.

In the third step, the researcher analyzed the data he coded and divided it into broader categories known as themes. The researcher listed the codes with his notes and evaluated the data they contained to understand which codes fit into larger categories. Simply the data is labeled and categorized.

In the fourth step, the researcher examined the themes in the data and compared them with the themes he created to ensure that the themes covered the data he wanted to analyze. Similar codes are grouped, and common or recurring themes are identified. The researcher also made sure that the themes he chose accurately represented the data and categorized all the important information.

Then, after verifying each theme and the information it contained, the researcher defined and named its themes. Defining themes involves crafting an explanation of exactly what each means and what they tell you about the data they represent. Naming themes made it easier to use and identify them in research.

In the final step of the thematic analysis, the researcher wrote the final report of your thematic analysis. This report includes an introduction that tells the reader the research question and the type of research analysis performed. It also describes the methods of collecting the sources studied and the processes and levels of thematic analysis it used to examine them. The analysis ends with a summary of the results and an explanation of answering the research question.

5.2. Interview Report

As a result of the interviews, 5 key themes determined in order to achieve the purpose of the research are listed and explained below.

5.2.1. A freer and more respectful environment for me

The most dominant theme in almost all interviews was the culture of freedom and understanding provided by the working environment of Participation Banks in Turkey. Almost all interviewees with experience in Participation Banks emphasized the respect that their managers, colleagues, and senior management have for employees.

When one of the interviewees was asked what makes Islamic Banks different from other organizations, her answer provided a clear understanding of the level of freedom she felt in the working environment. The interviewee explained her level of freedom at work "While my colleagues in other companies are doing their jobs, even the smallest disruptors cause discomfort in the work environment, even if I pray 5 times a day, no one pays attention." by not feeling any pressure while performing her religious rituals.

Another interviewee "everyone can understand the thoughts and feelings of their colleagues. Our company culture reminds us of the value of being respectful" stated that organizational culture of the Islamic Banks is related to respect in the work environment.

Again, the same theme is highlighted by another interviewee "the work environment does not become oppressive with the influence of Islam on the organizational culture. On the contrary, an environment that is softer and more conducive to diversity is created because being understanding and calm is felt everywhere in the company" by explaining the influence of religion in the company culture makes employees more open minded.

An interviewee who had experience in different companies in the field of Human Resources "We could easily come together and work with employees from many different units for the same purpose." compared her Participation Bank experience with other companies. She stated that employees were given more space and that this was related to the culture and history of the company.

Participation Banks experienced interviewees reported their satisfaction and happiness in almost all questions "there is desire to be successful, but there is also respect to the rights of colleagues" through the positive effects of the working environment on them.

Interviewees who graduated from Turkey's best universities stated that they were provided more inclusiveness due to the culture of Islamic Banks in Turkey, "I knew my ideas would be valued and not belittled." In addition, people with the profile that companies specifically want in the talent market prefer Islamic Banks in Turkey because of their high development opportunities. A company structure emerges that not only provides flexibility in religious rituals for these talents, but also develops them professionally, does not exclude them due to their culture, and offers them opportunities to realize their ideas. Nowadays, many companies are looking for ways to motivate talents, especially those at the beginning of their careers, by providing inclusiveness. When new graduates start a company, they can easily feel inadequate because they do not have enough knowledge about professional business life, how work is done in real life, and business policies. Losing the most critical talents of the future before they become productive has become a nightmare for companies. For this reason, companies provide training for managers, orientation programs, training sessions and many other practices to motivate these young talents, provide them with a feeling of success and adapt them to the job more easily. On the other hand, Islamic Banks in Turkey are very successful in terms of inclusiveness only thanks to the religious influences in their organization.

5.2.2. I wouldn't change my job for money

Another theme frequently reported by interviewees was that they were generally not open to alternative job opportunities. They agreed that the source of their commitment to their company is the organizational culture, the company's mission, the working environment, and the opportunities offered to them.

Another interviewee commented that in the workplace, people can be too greedy and overly competitive for various reasons. The interviewee stated that "In my company, we never even talk about promotions and bonuses. Because this is not something that worries us, there is no injustice in Participation Banks" she felt sorry for her friends working in other companies and that she was happy to work in a culture away from ugly competition.

One of the interviewees, who started in one of the Participation Banks in Turkey in her first job experience and left the job due to health after working for 6 years, reported that she received many good offers from rival companies during her this time, but she did not even think about accepting or evaluating the offers "money is not everything at "the end of the day". She also added that during this process, although she was quite competent in her field and thought she

could easily find higher-paying jobs, she did not even apply for any job postings because she thought she could not find the level of satisfaction she received from her job in another company.

One of the interviewees, who currently works as an HR Specialist in one of the Participation Banks in Turkey, explained that he received a job offer with a better title from a global company last week. However, he stated that he rejected the offer because he was sure that he could develop his career at his current company and because he did not want to exchange his happiness for a promotion. Regarding whether the career process is fair or not, he thinks that he will not have any problems getting promoted in Participation Banks as long as he does his job successfully due to the requirements of the Islamic religion. "If I am successful, I will get my promotion here anyway. If I am unsuccessful, this is something I have to work on." During this meeting, it was discussed that Islamic Banks work hard to ensure fairness in career processes and that no one would want a promotion received unfairly.

Some of the interviewees stated that they had never looked for a job while working in Islamic Banks in Turkey. They think that they cannot find the positive feelings they experience in Participation Banks in companies with different organizational cultures. They reported that even if they change jobs, they will want to build the organizational culture of Islamic Banks in their new workplaces. They stated that there is more of labor and money equation in workplaces and that this experienced culture gives mental comfort.

One of the interviewees, who has a bachelor's and master's degree in psychology, gave an interesting reason for not leaving the Participation Bank where she worked and not considering other offers. The interviewee who wanted to work in Islamic Banks after her graduation mentioned that she received very convincing job offers after she started working because she graduated from a very well-known university. She stated that she wanted to spend "5 years" long enough at the Participation Bank and that she did not want to evaluate a different offer "without it being really beneficial". She thought that only in this way could she repay the contributions of the business environment, culture, and Participation Banking.

5.2.3. We share common goals, thoughts and feelings

The third theme was revealed by the interviewees based on the naturalness and necessity of having companies with an Islamic organizational culture due to the proportional dominance of the Muslim population in Turkey.

The answer of one of the interviewees, "Since 99% of Turkey is Muslim, there is a need for such companies in the labor market," mostly covers the theme. It was mentioned during the interview process that Islamic Banks should be an example for other companies as they provide the opportunity for people who share the same feelings and ideas to work together.

One of the interviewees, who has worked in one of the Islamic Banks in Turkey for more than 15 years, said that the majority of the company's employees are people who identify as Muslims and that these employees can work together more "harmonic". Since he worked in different departments of the participation bank he worked for throughout his career, he reported that the culture affected the company in a homogeneous way. He attributed the reason why all employees are so open to working together to the fact that they do not have prejudices against each other and see each other as close.

It was stated by an employee interviewee who is a recruiter that the issue of whether new hires will be able to adapt to the culture is evaluated in detail. He thinks that strengthening the common values and mind-set in the company adds value to the company. It has been reported that new recruits are also assigned training to introduce the company culture to their orientation processes.

More than one interviewee stated that they were able to move towards the same goal very easily as a company. He stated that the reason for this is that organizational culture is in the minds and hearts. He thinks that it will be easier for people who want to achieve the same goal to move forward with common feelings. It was mentioned in the interview that the results of teamwork are better because the employees of Islamic Banks in Turkey like to do the same social activities, enjoy spending time together, adopt similar lifestyles and are close to each other intellectually.

One of the interviewees stated how emotionally compatible they were with each other by saying "we have the same emotional reactions to the same things." The interviewer stated that people who believe in common issues, feel sad and rejoice together are the secret behind successful teams. He also wanted to emphasize that this does not mean that there is no diversity. He thinks that it does not make sense to ensure diversity through physical characteristics such as race,

gender, age, or skin color. He thinks that real diversity is the ability to come up with different ideas and contribution of different talents to a task while doing it.

5.2.4. Emotional or intellectual commitment to culture is a must

One of the aims of the study is to provide recommendations to companies while structuring or strengthening organizational culture through this study. Thus, big differences can be made in global human resources practices with small touches. Based on this, one of the interview questions was to evaluate the impact of religion, philosophical thoughts, national feelings, and similar sensitive issues in the organizational culture on the company and employees. The answers received from this interview question formed the fourth theme in the research.

One of the interviewees stated that the HR teams of Islamic Banks in Turkey have achieved a certain level of "auto retention" thanks to their organizational culture. To be more precise, he thinks that even if there is no retention policy, employees are relatively less likely to experience negative situations such as low motivation, searching for a new job, and burn-out syndrome, which are often experienced in the workplace, because they are already committed wholeheartedly. It is thought that the strong effect of organizational culture provides great convenience to HR teams.

It has been stated that since organizational culture strongly affects every aspect of the company, the workplace environment is also seriously affected by it. An interviewee working in the Head Office of one of the Participation Banks stated that the relationships established with employees in different units are based on respect, understanding and being helpful. It is thought that the first communication people have with each other is entirely a reflection of organizational culture. For example, he explained that when people he has never met before in other units come to their unit for any reason, he and his colleagues always act sensitive, helpful, and hospitable, like guests coming to their home.

Another interview participant also described the culture and work environment as "naturally motivating." It has been mentioned that employees exceed their potential while working in Islamic Banks because they think they are "doing the right thing" and they put in a lot of effort to do their jobs in the best possible way. With the desire to do their jobs better, employees can easily be motivated to improve themselves. In this way, employees develop themselves

professionally and the company's business output improves as a result of the development of the employees.

Interviewees recommend other companies to connect their employees emotionally or intellectually to benefit their global Human Resources practices. She prayed for all employees to feel what she felt, saying "I am committed from my heart" in an interview. She stated that people are unhappy because they get tired in their working lives and get older quickly. She thinks that everyone should work due to financial concerns, but no one "deserves to experience these negative emotions". From the comments made by the interviewees, the idea that business life is generally a tiring and challenging environment, but that it is "inhumane" to force more people than it should be, emerges.

One of the interviewees stated that HR teams should act "smart" and gave himself as an example. He stated that while working at Participation Banks, he worked very hard because he believed that the company's vision, mission, and organizational culture were beneficial to his society, his own religion, his colleagues, and himself. Companies think that when they give their employees such emotional reasons, their productivity will "quadruple". He thinks that people can achieve anything when they believe in it and will enjoy this feeling of success. While working in different companies, the interviewee also noticed that the change in motivation level has changed very seriously. The interviewee, who described himself as a professional and successful expert, stated that the workplace where his success and efficiency are at the highest level is Islamic Banks.

5.2.5. I am building a career and getting emotional satisfaction

Another last but very important theme that emerged as a result of the interviews is that the employees of Islamic Banks in Turkey are emotionally satisfied with their work while taking the steps they want in their careers.

One of the interviewees worked for 5 years in one of the Participation Banks in Turkey and then moved to England. For this reason, she had to quit her job. When she remembered her old days in the Islamic Bank she worked, she emphasized how much her work satisfied her emotionally and mentally. She thinks that the fact that her work is indirectly beneficial for Muslims and society also increases the quality of her work. Although she is currently working in the same field of expertise in England, the pleasure she gets from the job is at a much lower level.

An interviewee, who previously worked in one of the Islamic Banks for more than 5 years and had to leave the job due to health problems, said, "If I work again, I want to work in one of the Islamic Banks again." Although she has not worked for a while and wants to get away from working life, she stated that her only choice will be Islamic Banks due to the emotional satisfaction and professional gains she received. She explained how great the influence of the bank she worked for was in all the steps she took in her career. In addition to the success she achieved in her career, she emphasized that the company's "removal of society and economy from the interest rate swamp" benefits future generations and the country's economy.

In another interview, he thinks that being able to live a religious life is an opportunity that makes people happy. The fact that the requirements of Islam are very difficult to implement requires many Muslims to choose between business life and religious life. The interviewees think that the Islamic Banks in Turkey completely remove this anxiety from the minds of their employees and offer a great comfort area to the employees. He reported that there is never a problem in Participation Banks where employees feel bad and become preoccupied when they cannot fulfill their religious rituals. He explained that employees work more peacefully after fulfilling their religious rituals, and that the emotionally satisfied employee's sole focus is on his own work.

Another interviewee talked about the working areas of Participation Banks and described the emotional satisfaction he received from the company. He thinks that Participation Banks work to benefit society because they do not fund any Islamically prohibited organizations. All kinds of organizations that produce and sell alcohol, all food vendors with missing hygiene certificates, weapons manufacturers and distributors and similar organizations are business areas where trading is not permitted in Islam. The fact that Participation Banks do not allow these companies to open loans, credit cards, accounts or other banking transactions makes the interviewee feel very peaceful. Thus, he thinks that he is "walking on the right path" and does not harm anyone directly or indirectly while successfully advancing his career, which is the interview.

6. Discussion

The discussion part of this research has been completed in the light of the summary given by Dr. Kriukow (2022) on how this field should be written during the dissertation writing process (Kriukow, 2022). Based on the existing academic studies included in the research, the research problem will be re-evaluated in the discussion section, the accessed data will be interpreted and illustrated, the importance of the study for global HR applications will be explained, the limitations of the study will be discussed, and what future research can be done on this subject will be answered.

6.1. Research Problem

This study analyzed, explained, and explored the workplace experiences of Islamic Bank employees in Turkey with the purpose of generating data to contribute to the global HR practices in the path of building and strengthening organizational culture. The aim of this research problem is to evaluate the effects of having religion, philosophy, national feelings, and similar sensitive issues at the core of the organizational culture of companies on employees, by benefiting from the experiences of professionals who currently work or have previously worked in Islamic Banks in Turkey. In this way, the lack of academic research in this field worldwide and specifically in Turkey will be filled. As a result of the study, it will be explained in a clearer way to HR teams and company founders how they should plan the feelings and mental bonds they will create with their employees while shaping their organizational culture.

Although some inferences can be made about the culture of Islamic Banks through existing academic research, it seems that research that directly explains and conveys the experiences of experienced people in this field would be more consistent. Since Sharia Rules and the orders of the Islamic Religion are implemented in the working methods and rules of Islamic Banks, the company's business environment will also be affected by these situations. As given in the literature review, 99% of the Turkish workforce are Muslims. For this reason, companies working with Islamic culture seem necessary in the Turkish talent market. When this situation is interpreted globally, it can be said that companies in different cultures, countries and groups should shape the core of their organizational culture according to employee needs.

6.2. Findings

As a result of the literature review and interviews in the research, how employees in Islamic Banks in Turkey are affected by the organizational culture is reported based on 5 core themes. All interviewees who identified themselves as Muslims gave almost the same messages, although they were unaware of each other. In addition, since the interviewees were in different Participation Banks and in different positions, it can be concluded that the experience is quite similar in all Participation Banks.

Based on the data obtained from the literature review, it is understood that there is almost no limit to the issues affected by the organizational cultures of companies. In addition to issues that concern HR teams more closely, such as the working environment, ways of doing business, career opportunities, trainings, and communication style, organizational culture also has a great impact on issues directly in the financial or market field, such as the success of the company, goals, how to achieve the goal, marketing and so on. It can be seen from different academic sources that the relationship between organizational culture and engagement and retention is directly connected to each other, but during this study, more than one example proving this connection was seen (Lombongadil and Djamil, 2023).

Discussion regarding the 5 basic themes that emerged in the interviews and their importance for HR are explained in more detail below.

6.2.1. A freer and more respectful environment for me

Companies should be knowledgeable about creating the right working environment and positioning their employees correctly to increase productivity and profits (Listiyorini and Kasmir, 2023). From the seating arrangement to the atmosphere in the environment, each of them has an impact on the work. Many companies are trying different methods on how the workplace working environment should be.

Flexible working arrangements are becoming increasingly popular in the business world today. Flexibility such as remote working, flexible working hours and freelance work environments play an important role in meeting the needs of businesses and employees (Krajčík *et al.*, 2023). These flexible working arrangements can have many different psychological effects on employees and companies. One of the most significant psychological effects of flexible working arrangements on employees is the ability to balance work and private life. The fact that employees of Islamic Banks in Turkey have the flexibility to complete their religious rituals is an indication that they are provided with a freer work environment (Van Laer and Essers, 2024). This can reduce employees' stress levels and increase their overall life satisfaction. The effects of this working environment on Participation Banks are also important. This freedom in the workplace environment can help Participation Banks attract and retain talented employees by offering more flexibility to their employees.

Respect in the business environment, frequently mentioned in interviews, is a key element for the success of a company. The existence of this concept increases employee motivation, ensures cooperation, and improves productivity. Respect is the cornerstone of relationships between employees. Treating everyone fairly and humanely, valuing ideas and opinions, and respecting the feelings of others are examples of respect (Banner *et al.*, 2022). Being tolerant of colleagues, embracing diversity, and treating everyone equally fosters respect. A respectful work environment allows people to communicate and express themselves comfortably. This creates an environment where innovation and creativity are encouraged.

A softer competitive environment, which is frequently mentioned by interviewees, also provides mental comfort for many employees. Competition in today's business life is generally quite high. This situation can affect every aspect of employees' lives, but its effects are felt most in business life. Competitive and production-oriented business culture can turn some business environments into an extremely tense environment where it is not even known how to communicate (Yıldız et al., 2024). Some work environments are so challenging that they can have a very negative psychological impact on employees. Because such workplaces are so stressful, they can affect employees' daily lives and even their health (Gupta and Chawla, 2024). In fact, such environments are not only stressful but also toxic. Whatever the reason, turning employees into racehorses by alienating them from human values is not right. Because such an environment influences its employees and steals their motivation from them, even if they love what they do and want to do something good; makes them lose their productivity and creativity. It causes its employees to become so stressed that after a while, people start not wanting to go to work and come home from work stressed. When employees find themselves in such an environment, of course the best thing they want to do is to leave. The fact that the employees of Islamic Banks in Turkey have never felt this extreme competition throughout their careers seems quite positive for them.

As a result of the interviews, it was understood that discrimination in the work environment due to lack of experience, gender, age, or education level is not welcomed due to Islamic influences

in the organizational culture. Participation Banks, which provide people with a space where they can practice their religion and add the positive behaviors that Islam recommends to people, to their culture, seem to have solved many problems that may be the most important in the working environment, without any effort.

6.2.2. I wouldn't change my job for money

Employees' commitment to the company is important from the lowest to the highest levels of the company (Yadav *et al.*, 2024). First, if everyone from the lowest title to the highest title is happy and loyal to their job, customer loyalty will also progress in the same proportion. It is extremely important for the success of a business that its employees display a happy and positive atmosphere. No customer wants to talk to a representative who is toxic and constantly talks about negativity. But it is preferable to do business with someone who is committed to his job and whose work makes him happy. In short, the most important advantage of employee commitment may be company success and business continuity. The emotional ties of Participation Bank employees to their companies can directly and positively affect the quality of service provided to customers.

Another issue where employee loyalty is important is that in the case of constant employee turnover. The costs of recruiting and training new employees can be a big financial issue for organizations (Sai and Pinapati, 2023). For example, if a specialist is hired for a job that requires extensive knowledge and experience quits after a few months and this situation occurs frequently. The HR team of the company must hire someone with similar skills, and train her from scratch results in both financial and time loss. However, since people who are still learning their job have a high probability of making mistakes, critical mistakes made by new people who do not have a deep specialization can cause financial losses for companies (Irawati *et al.*, 2024). Experienced professionals prevent losses and provide their companies with many advantages along with their knowledge, as they have a deeper knowledge and experience. The fact that the employees of Islamic Banks in Turkey tend to reject offers from companies with different cultures ensures that the work that needs to be done is done by employees who are experts in that field.

Employees' commitment to their companies supports business productivity. Happy and committed employees in the service and production process will work more efficiently and

harmony will prevail in all areas of the business (Indrawati, 2023). Participation Bank employees seem a good example of this situation. These employees will be willing to improve themselves, and these personal development efforts will progress in parallel with the development of the company's business processes. For this reason, people who are committed to their job and love their job will bring more innovation and progress to the company. Employees' commitment to their work ensures that communication among themselves progresses sincerely and strongly. Time is needed for human relations to develop. For this reason, it will be easier for people who are committed to their jobs and have been working for a long time to get along and be sincere, rather than short-term relationships. This sincerity will affect every aspect of the company because toxicity also happily disperses into the environment.

In summary, as a result of the interviews, it was observed that it was very difficult to persuade the employees of Participation Banks in Turkey to change jobs. For Participation Banks, this eliminates many potential risks such as business continuity, the cost of hiring new candidates, training costs and operational daily risks.

6.2.3. We share common goals, thoughts and feelings

The third theme, which is an outcome of the interviews, explains how important harmony, empathy and communication are in the workplace. Many of the interviewees are very pleased that their teammates can empathize with them and have the same feelings and thoughts in the same situations.

In companies, the key to making the vision come true is for first the teams and then the entire company to move towards the same goal together (Chen *et al.*, 2016). While unity can be achieved by working hard on unity, it can also be achieved faster with a strong culture and representatives of this culture. Clarity of vision and employees' belief in it can make organizations act as a whole. Goals must be determined in accordance with this vision and in a logical manner. Since the goal of "an interest-free society and economy" of the employees of Islamic Banks is also a rule of the Islamic religion, the people working here believe in the vision and can move towards the goals in unity. By keeping the culture and emotional ties strong, all employees' commitment to your vision can be guaranteed.

Additionally, team members who value and respect each other's thoughts and beliefs tend to be more united (LaGree *et al.*,2023). When different ideas, interpretations, and lifestyles are

embraced by other team members, these differences can lead to greater unity. Islamic Banks in Turkey seem to have brought a different interpretation to the issue of diversity, which is on the agenda of many global companies. If different ideas cannot be discussed easily in work environments where there is racial, cultural, or national diversity, it can be said that there is no real diversity here. The fact that HR teams support this union in new recruitments is also appreciated by the employees.

The ways of establishing relationships between team members have become traditional in Participation Banks, as in many institutions. A communication tradition that helps employees get to know each other or work together to overcome challenges can prevent many communication accidents and make relationships stronger.

6.2.4. Emotional or intellectual commitment to culture is a must

Another important theme emerging from the interviews is the positive effects of employee retention, which is formed under the influence of organizational culture and Human Resources practices, on the employees of Islamic Banks in Turkey. Retention and engagement issues are also important agendas of today's companies, and this policy is carried out differently in each company (Froiland, 2023). Participation Banks have based their retention strategies on emotional and intellectual ties and are constantly trying to strengthen these ties.

Employee engagement can be defined as the emotional investment employees make in their jobs in terms of the passion they show for their jobs and the motivation they feel to do their jobs well (Azmy, 2024). Employees who feel committed to their company work harder and motivate their teammates to do the same. Employee engagement impacts nearly every important aspect of the business, including profitability, revenue, customer experience, employee turnover, and more. Depending on employee engagement levels, employees may be less committed or disengaged to their jobs. Disengaged employees only devote certain hours to their jobs and leave. They do not involve themselves in activities outside of work. Such employees are not only unproductive, but also detrimental to the work done by other employees. Engaged employees also participate in activities outside of work.

Retention function, which is one of the basic functions of human resources, is of great importance for the development of the business. In the past, people started a job and retired from there, businesses did not focus on people, they saw them as an element of capital, but today, with the emergence of the human resources department, people have begun to be seen as "value" rather than "capital" (Mittal and Kaur, 2023). Talented and competent people are much more important for businesses. Especially in the 21st century. At a time when the competitive market is strong, this situation has led to a race among businesses to search for talented and competent people. For these reasons, one of the Participation Banks changed the name of its Human Resources unit to Human Values.

If people are hired even though they do not suit the business culture and philosophy, both the employee and the business may suffer losses (Susanto *et al.*, 2023). In the comments made during the interviews with the Human Resources teams of Participation Banks in Turkey, it was stated that the issue of "cultural adaptation" was evaluated in detail in the candidates to be recruited. If a person is hired even though he/she does not comply with the customs and traditions of the business, he/she may feel psychologically and physically uncomfortable, incompatible and may cause the person to become less confident. Inefficiency of the retention practices can lead to increased personnel turnover, loss of capital, and losses in production and service. At the same time, talented and competent people are also important for other businesses. In the new world order, competition continues not only in the commercial dimension but also in the human capital dimension. For example, a person working at company A may attract the attention of company B and compete to recruit that employee.

In this competition, employees may receive offers such as extra salary, flexible working hours, and bonuses. If the employee thinks that the culture, vision, and mission of Company B are not suitable for him, he may not choose it despite these advantages. One of the themes of the research is that Participation Bank employees are relatively less willing to change jobs. However, if company A makes the employee feel comfortable with its culture, vision, mission, values, and provides the salary that he deserves, the company may not lose the employee despite good offers. Organizations must pay attention to many factors to retain employees. Employees must be supported, mobbing must be eliminated, internal communication must be strong, trust and value must be provided, and justice within the business must be ensured. Even interviewees with no experience in this field gave similar answers to academic research to the question of what is required in the company for the strong implementation of retention strategies.

Not only the human resources department should support retention, but also other managers and employees. If these conditions are provided for the employee, the employee's performance, motivation, and commitment may increase. One of the focuses of retention strategy should be on effective talent management and connecting the employee to the corporate culture.

To summarize, with the development of businesses, the perspective on people has changed. Competition towards talents has increased. Therefore, the business needs to develop and implement a retention strategy in order not to lose both profit and a qualified employee.

6.2.5. I am building a career and getting emotional satisfaction

The last theme that emerged because of the interviews was the satisfaction of Participation Banks employees with their jobs and the support provided by their employers in their career processes.

Job satisfaction describes how self-motivated and satisfied an employee is with their job. Job satisfaction occurs when employees feel like they have a stable job, room to grow in their careers, and a good balance between work and personal life (Hoffman-Miller, 2022). This means that the employee is happy in his job because the job meets the employee's standards.

The environment, attitude in the work environment, and work quality that a company can provide to its employees can also greatly affect employees' job satisfaction. Since Participation Banks serve the Islamic lifestyle in accordance with their vision and working rules, Muslim employees feel that they are working for a right purpose. This provides them with job satisfaction. Job satisfaction refers to employees' general feelings about their jobs. It is a state of well-being and happiness related to a person's performance in the workplace and environment. It can be an excellent predictor of productivity within a company. In summary, the right motivation provided to employees helps them both reveal their potential and make them happy.

Employee job satisfaction is also very important for organizations. Employee satisfaction can increase positive energy, creativity, and motivation to succeed.

6.3. Future Research

In this research, interviews were conducted with employees in different positions and experiences of the largest participation banks in Turkey. However, the Islamic Banking sector is growing day by day and branchless digital Participation Banks have also started to operate. The work can be taken one step further with the experiences of those who will work in these digital Participation Banks.

Since Participation Banks have an Islamic culture, the effect of religion being at the center of organizational culture on employees is limited to Islam only. Conducting similar studies with companies with different organizational cultures may enrich the research. For example, this study can be carried out in companies where there are different religions, philosophical thoughts, or national feelings in the organizational culture. This way, more general comments can be made about how emotional or intellectual issues that may be sensitive or inherently divisive affect employees.

In addition, there may be employees from different religions in Participation Banks, albeit in a very small number. Although it is not easy to identify these employees, a new perspective can be added to the research if a different study is conducted with only these employees.

Finally, the subgroups created in this study were created mostly based on professional and company differences. By creating different subgroups, it can be analyzed whether the experience differs according to the subgroups.

7. Conclusion

This research has provided outputs that will contribute to global HR practices on several topics.

7.1. Recommendations to HR practices by author

* Since the starting point of the study was organizational culture, the most important outputs were obtained under this topic. When building and strengthening their organizational culture, HR teams and founders of organizations should place issues that connect employees emotionally or intellectually to the company at the center of the culture. Although religion is a very sensitive issue, when positioned correctly in a company's organizational culture, it can provide serious benefits to both employees and the company.

* HR teams should do their best to align the company's work environment with the organizational culture. People want to be comfortable, free and peaceful in their working

environments. The work environment can make employees' happiness permanent and even make happiness a part of the culture. Being able to communicate correctly, empathize and be understanding are behaviors that every employee wants at work. Managers should also be given special training on these issues.

* A work environment that provides flexibility for religious rituals provides employees with great peace of mind. In today's busy and competitive business environment, the time employees spare for themselves can be described as a waste of time for the company. However, if these employees feel that they are valued and their companies provide them with this space, it can lead to the creation of a loyal and happy employee base in the long run.

* It can also be concluded from this study that employees who are emotionally committed to their companies will not want to transfer to different companies for money or career. In this way, companies can retain their expert professionals and avoid many costs caused by new hires.

* Trust in justice in the workplace also plays an important role in retaining employees. Some of the interviewees explained not being open to offers from different companies to with the fairness of their career processes in Participation Banks. Employees' confidence that they will get what they deserve makes their companies a difficult environment for them to give up.

* Human Resources teams have a lot of responsibilities that will affect the organizational culture and employees at many points. The recruitment process is one of the most critical of these. When HR employees who perform recruitment duties are going to hire new candidates, they should also evaluate in detail the candidates' adaptation to the culture.

* Social norms and talent market expectations should be taken very seriously when planning culture and ways of doing business. Building the right culture is very important for acquiring, motivating, and retaining talents. By doing this, groups can be formed that can more easily advance together towards the same goal. It may also be easier for people who do not have difficulty understanding each other and who can react similarly to the same situations to work together.

* It follows that diversity is not about skin color, nationality, gender or religion. People who are very similar in lifestyle may have very different ideas on many issues. It can be inferred from the study that true diversity is related to thinking style.

7.2. Personal Learning Statement

The research result was very inspiring for me. I learned many details that I had not learned in my 8-year Human Resources career, through the experiences of different people and academic studies. Although I have worked in Islamic Banks in Turkey for more than 7 years in total, listening to the effects of organizational culture from the employees' own perspectives has enabled me to make significant professional development. I learned that each employee's reason for being engaged and motivated in their company may be different. New ideas came to my mind, especially regarding diversity and retention, that I had never heard before and had not seen the like in global HR practices. I am happy that it will contribute to the development of my career by transferring these gains to my professional life.

Reference List

Alam, S. (2023) 'The Impact of Modern Technologies and HR Practices on Employee Retention: A Study on Apparel Firms in India', 2023 International Conference on Advanced Computing & Communication Technologies (ICACCTech), Advanced Computing & Communication Technologies (ICACCTech), 2023 International Conference on, ICACCTECH, pp. 335–340. doi:10.1109/ICACCTech61146.2023.00061.

Al Maalouf, N.J. *et al.* (2023) 'The Effect of Human Resource Management Practices on Employee Retention in Private Universities in Lebanon', International Journal of Professional Business Review (JPBReview), 8(9), pp. 1–25. doi:10.26668/businessreview/2023.v8i9.3556.

Al Zeer, I., Ajouz, M. and Salahat, M. (2023) 'Conceptual Model of Predicting Employee Performance through the Mediating Role of Employee Engagement and Empowerment', International Journal of Educational Management, 37(5), pp. 986–1004. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=21fe352b-fbd2-3ec0-8777-411b692e5df2 (Accessed: 05 January 2024).

Ali, M.A. (2023) 'An Assessment of Islamic Banking in Asia, Europe, USA, and Australia', European Journal of Islamic Finance, 10(1), pp. 1–15. doi:10.13135/2421-2172/7345.

Aydogdu, R., Yildiz, M. and Orak, U. (2021) 'Religion and wellbeing: devotion, happiness and life satisfaction in Turkey', Mental Health, Religion & Culture, 24(9), pp. 961–975. doi:10.1080/13674676.2021.1969353.

Azmy, A. (2024) 'Employee Satisfaction Factors in the E-Commerce Company: The Mediating Role of Employee Engagement', Journal of Indonesian Economy & Business, 39(1), pp. 28–56. doi:10.22146/jieb.v39i1.6936.

Banner, F. *et al.* (2022) 'Can Respectful Employees Create Equitable Institutions? Promoting a Culture of Respect in the Higher Education Workplace', Feminist Criminology, 17(3), pp. 384–406. doi:10.1177/15570851211062577.

Basheer, M.F. *et al.* (2019) 'Factors effecting Employee Loyalty through Mediating role of Employee Engagement: Evidence from PROTON Automotive Industry, Malaysia', Journal of Managerial Sciences, 13(3), pp. 71–84. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=47439592-1bad-3ea1-ad29-c4ec51678b0d (Accessed: 07 January 2024).

Bora Ly (2024) 'Inclusion leadership and employee work engagement: The role of organizational commitment in Cambodian public organization', Asia Pacific Management Review, 29(1), pp. 44–52. doi:10.1016/j.apmrv.2023.06.003.

Bynum, L.J. (2022) 'Islamic Finance', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=2825fc16-0a33-3cb8-b157-68c18e67c27e (Accessed: 09 January 2024).

Chen, C. *et al.* (2016) 'Group harmony in the workplace: Conception, measurement, and validation', Asia Pacific Journal of Management, 33(4), pp. 903–934. doi:10.1007/s10490-016-9457-0.

Cin, S. and Sönmez, B. (2024) 'The relationship between inclusive leadership and work engagement in hospital employees', Psychology of Leaders and Leadership [Preprint]. doi:10.1037/mgr0000152.

Erika *et al.* (2023) 'Factors Affecting Employee Engagement of Generation Z during the Transition from the COVID-19 Pandemic to Endemic', International Journal of Applied Business (TIJAB), 7(2), pp. 196–216. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=5fc84c04-a88c-3d06-9de5-6e0a9ece0898 (Accessed: 05 January 2024).

Ferine, K.F. *et al.* (2021) 'An empirical study of leadership, organizational culture, conflict, and work ethic in determining work performance in Indonesia's education authority', Heliyon, 7(7). doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2021.e07698.

Fonseca, A.L., Chimenti, P.C. and Suarez, C.M. (2023) 'Using Deep Learning Language Models as Scaffolding Tools in Interpretive Research', RAC: Revista de Administração Contemporânea, 27(3), pp. 1–12. doi:10.1590/1982-7849rac2023230021.en.

Froiland, J.M. (2023) 'Employee Engagement', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=7ee3aeeb-d73b-3fbe-960a-cd633eb99457 (Accessed: 04 January 2024).

Froiland, J.M. (2023) 'Employee Retention', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=ca703827-c400-319e-ac7c-f61fc50ed14f (Accessed: 08 January 2024).

Fuller, C.P. (2015) Organizational Culture: Leadership Strategies, Outcomes and Effectiveness.NewYork:NovaSciencePublishers,Inc.Availableat:https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=09292c87-a30e-350d-9fba-6d40d07a0f91(Accessed: 02 January 2024).

Gilstein, J. (2023) 'Stakeholder analysis', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=8112aba3-7ac9-3ce6-88cf-aa9e92502193 (Accessed: 30 January 2024).

Gupta, A. and Chawla, S. (2024) 'Toxic Leadership in Workplaces: Insights from Bibliometric, Thematic Analysis, and TCM Framework', International Journal of Organizational Leadership, 13(1). doi:10.33844/ijol.2024.60405.

Halmaghi, E.-E. (2023) 'Organizational Culture and Learning Culture in Organization', Review of General Management, 37(2), pp. 45–53. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=06f6ce7b-3d47-3e81-bc40-64ffa6b6d20d (Accessed: 03 January 2024).

Hausknecht, J.P., Rodda, J. and Howard, M.J. (2009) 'Targeted employee retention: Performance-based and job-related differences in reported reasons for staying', Human Resource Management, 48(2), pp. 269–288. doi:10.1002/hrm.20279.

Hoffman-Miller, P.M. (2022) 'Job satisfaction', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=3bef6309-f7d3-3627-91c0-6f5664a325a3 (Accessed: 21 April 2024).

Huang, S., Wang, T., Zhang, Z. and He, L (2023) 'Analyzing Hierarchical Organizational Structure Change: Strategic Planning Model from Personnel Perspective', 2023 IEEE International Conference on Data Mining Workshops (ICDMW), Data Mining Workshops (ICDMW), 2023 IEEE International Conference on, ICDMW, pp. 1463–1468. doi:10.1109/ICDMW60847.2023.00186.

Imran, M. *et al.* (2022) 'The mediating role of innovation in the relationship between organizational culture and organizational performance in Pakistan's banking sector', Journal of Public Affairs (14723891), 22, pp. 1–15. doi:10.1002/pa.2717.

Indrawati, I. (2023) 'The Influence of Leadership Behavior, Work Skills and Achievement Motivation on Work Productivity Moderated by Work Discipline Case Study at PT. Audy Jasatrans Logistics', Dinasti International Journal of Management Science (DIJMS), 4(5), pp. 890–905. doi:10.31933/dijms.v4i4.

Irawati, M.A. *et al.* (2024) 'The Impact of Employee Job Satisfaction on Dynamic Capability: The Mediating Role of Turnover Intention', JDM: Jurnal Dinamika Manajemen, 15(1), pp. 55–68. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=ddbaf30a-be8e-33c6-a2ff-0bc0bd8787c1 (Accessed: 19 April 2024).

Islam, M.T. (2024) 'The Shari'ah Foundation of Islamic Banking', Journal of Islamic Banking & Finance, 41(1), pp. 9–39. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=5dea8156-4b12-34cb-84c9-a998ff5e8567 (Accessed: 25 March 2024).

Jha, B. and Kumar, A. (2016) 'Employee Engagement: A Strategic Tool to Enhance Performance', DAWN: Journal for Contemporary Research in Management, 3(2), pp. 21–29. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=d7ebc60b-ea26-308c-9ff5-c46eda34d6fc (Accessed: 07 January 2024).

Jim H. (2017) Employee engagement vs. employee satisfaction and organizational culture.

Available at: <u>https://www.gallup.com/workplace/236366/right-culture-not-employee-</u> satisfaction.aspx (Accessed: 06 January 2024).

Kariya, S. (2002) "So why should we hire you?" [interview techniques]', IEEE Spectrum, Spectrum, IEEE, IEEE Spectr, 39(2), pp. 68–71. doi:10.1109/6.991302.

Khan, A.Z., Skibniewski, M. and Cable, J.H. (2019) 'The Project Stakeholder Analysis Process', PM World Journal, 8(8), pp. 1–19. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=c1c97e78-1403-387d-8dac-dd836e140635 (Accessed: 28 April 2024).

Kossyva, D. *et al.* (2024) 'Retaining talent in knowledge-intensive services: enhancing employee engagement through human resource, knowledge and change management', Journal of Knowledge Management, 28(2), pp. 409–439. doi:10.1108/JKM-03-2022-0174.

Krajčík, M., Schmidt, D.A. and Baráth, M. (2023) 'Hybrid Work Model: An Approach to Work– Life Flexibility in a Changing Environment', Administrative Sciences (2076-3387), 13(6), p. 150. doi:10.3390/admsci13060150.

Kriukow, J. (2022) How to write the discussion chapter (and what NOT to write).

Available

<u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=pPpcEQikE3Y&ab_channel=ResearchwithDrKriukow</u> (Accessed: 01 April 2024).

LaGree, D. *et al.* (2023) 'The Effect of Respect: Respectful Communication at Work Drives Resiliency, Engagement, and Job Satisfaction among Early Career Employees', International Journal of Business Communication, 60(3), pp. 844–864. doi:10.1177/23294884211016529.

Listiyorini, E. and Kasmir (2023) 'Impact of the Culture of the Organization, the Working Environment Contacted with Laboral Stress and the Variable of Intervening in the Wide of Vocational Training and Productivity', Indonesian Journal of Business Analytics, 3(6), pp. 2285–2304. doi:10.55927/ijba.v3i6.7198.

Lombongadil, F. and Djamil, M. (2023) 'The Influence of Organizational Culture and Work Environment on Employee Engagement Through Employee Resilience as Intervening Variable (Study on Strategic Management and Governance-Bank Indonesia)', Dinasti International Journal of Management Science (DIJMS), 4(6), pp. 1125–1134. doi:10.31933/dijms.v4i6.1945.

Masharyono, M. *et al.* (2023) 'Influence of Job Characteristics, Work Environment, and Engagement on Employee Performance in Indonesian State-Owned Enterprises', Journal of Eastern European & Central Asian Research, 10(6), pp. 853–866. doi:10.15549/jeecar.v10i6.1506.

Maulia, I.R. (2023) 'Enhancing Employee Engagement by Transformational Leadership and Empowerment with Job Satisfaction as Mediator', Dinasti International Journal of Management Science (DIJMS), 5(2), pp. 292–301. doi:10.31933/dijms.v5i2.

Mercadal, T. (2023) 'Organizational Culture', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=9ae15879-5b5f-3ad8-a2db-fef1da21ddb1 (Accessed: 2 January 2024).

Michel, E.J. *et al.* (2023) 'Bridging two tales of engagement: a meta-analytic review of employee engagement and customer engagement in service contexts', Journal of Service Management, 34(5), pp. 843–866. doi:10.1108/JOSM-06-2019-0171.

Miller, S.P.M. (2023) 'Thematic analysis', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=da49c18b-8976-340e-92dc-3bc4739ab56b (Accessed: 29 April 2024).

Miletić, V., Aničić, D. and Gračanac, A. (2023) 'Evaluation of Human Resources Policy in National Organizations with Different Governing Organizational Structures', Ekonomika, 69(3), pp. 33–42. doi:10.5937/ekonomika2303033M.

Mittal, E. and Kaur, N. (2023) 'GHRM Practices and Employee Retention in the IT Sector: Parallel Mediation Approach', Prajnān, 52(2), pp. 155–178. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=9ef08cc7-6656-3440-8d4d-f63effaae379 (Accessed: 20 April 2024).

Naeem, M. *et al.* (2023) 'A Step-by-Step Process of Thematic Analysis to Develop a Conceptual Model in Qualitative Research', International Journal of Qualitative Methods, pp. 1–18. doi:10.1177/16094069231205789.

Neves, F. *et al.* (2023) 'Data privacy in the Internet of Things based on anonymization: A review', Journal of Computer Security, 31(3), pp. 261–291. doi:10.3233/JCS-210089.

Nofriadi, N., Rafki, R. and Oktarina, Y. (2024) 'The Effect of Competence, Organizational Culture and Work Ethic on Work Productivity', Dinasti International Journal of Digital Business Management (DIJDBM), 5(2), pp. 352–356. doi:10.31933/dijdbm.v5i2.

Oke, A.E. *et al.* (2023) 'Leveraging gamification to enhance productivity and employee engagement in the Nigerian construction industry', Built Environment Project and Asset Management, 13(6), pp. 813–829. doi:10.1108/BEPAM-04-2023-0064.

Orey D.C. and Rosa M. (2015) 'Three approaches in the research field of ethnomodeling: emic (local), etic (global), and dialogical (glocal)', Revista Latinoamericana de Etnomatemática, 8(2), pp. 364–380. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=da5feb62-d0c4-32f5-9c6c-2ee2bc46f11e (Accessed: 29 April 2024).

Popescu, M.A. and Ciorei, M.A. (2023) 'State of the Art in Employee Retention', FAIMA Business & Management Journal, 11(2), pp. 61–71. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=e1c476ed-c5ea-3872-8a75-daf6c07fc7b9 (Accessed: 08 January 2024).

Ramadhani, M.K. and Bilen, M. (2024) 'Services Quality or Sharia Compliance? Factors which mostly Influence Customer Selection of Islamic Banks – The Case of Tanzania', Turkish Journal of Islamic Economics, 11(1), pp. 32–56. doi:10.26414/A3949.

Ramdhani, R.F. and Djamil, M. (2024) 'The Effect of Motivation and Communication on Employee Performance with Employee Engagement as an Intervening Variable in The PT XYZ Contact Center', Dinasti International Journal of Management Science (DIJMS), 5(3), pp. 360–368. doi:10.31933/dijms.v5i3.

Raziq, M.M. *et al.* (2024) 'Organizational culture, knowledge sharing and organizational performance: a multi-country study', Business Process Management Journal, 30(2), pp. 586–611. doi:10.1108/BPMJ-07-2023-0549.

Robinson, C. and Williams, H. (2024) 'Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis: Learnings from Employing IPA as a Qualitative Methodology in Educational Research', Qualitative Report, 29(4), pp. 939–952. doi:10.46743/2160-3715/2024.6487.

Sai, V.S. and Pinapati, A.K. (2023) 'Insights on Employee Turnover: A Bibliometric Analysis', International Journal of Professional Business Review (JPBReview), 8(6), pp. 1–37. doi:10.26668/businessreview/2023.v8i6.2322.

Salmon, K. *et al.* (2012) 'Do Non-Verbal Aids Increase the Effectiveness of "Best Practice" Verbal Interview Techniques? An Experimental Study', Applied Cognitive Psychology, 26(3), pp. 370–380. doi:10.1002/acp.1835.

Saunders, M., Lewis, P., Thornhill, A. (2009). Understanding research philosophies and approaches. Research Methods for Business Students. 4. 106-135.

Sindakis, S. *et al.* (2024) 'The effect of organizational culture and leadership on performance: A case of a subsidiary in Colombia', Journal of General Management, 49(2), pp. 115–132. doi:10.1177/03063070221100048.

Smith, T. (2023) 'Qualitative and quantitative research', Salem Press Encyclopedia [Preprint]. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=b34e8200-86f1-3dd1-a8b1-bf5804af2632 (Accessed: 21 January 2024).

Smith, T.W. (2022) 'Freedom of Religion and Belief in Turkey: Religion, Society and Politics. By Özgür Heval Çınar', Journal of Church & State, 64(4), pp. 749–751. doi:10.1093/jcs/csac058.

Sohn, P., Heidarifar, S. and Polanin, S. (2023) *Religion and secularism in turkey, and the turkish elections*. Available at: <u>https://www.e-ir.info/2023/05/26/religion-and-secularism-in-turkey-and-the-turkish-</u>

elections/#:~:text=The%20overwhelming%20majority%20of%20the,or%20are%20agnostic% 20(Ni%C5%9Fanc%C4%B1%202023 (Accessed: 12 January 2024).

Soumadi, M.M. and Al Smadi, A.A. (2023) 'Islamic Banking Institutions and Their Role in Economic Development of Jordan', International Journal of Professional Business Review (JPBReview), 8(5), pp. 1–21. doi:10.26668/businessreview/2023.v8i5.1679.

Stofer, K. A. (2019) 'Preparing for One-on-One Qualitative Interviews: Logistics', EDIS, 2019(4). Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=934fdf1f-60eb-316c-a28e-9c5ee3d4c939 (Accessed: 3 February 2024).

Susanto, P.C., Sawitri, N.N. and Susita, D. (2023) 'Job Satisfaction and Employee Turnover: Analysis Recruitment, Career Development, Organizational Culture', Dinasti International Journal of Digital Business Management (DIJDBM), 4(3), pp. 619–629. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=29641976-f6f9-3eec-a135-05213b331f91 (Accessed: 29 April 2024).

Tartan, S. and Tetik, N. (2023) 'An Alternative Banking Model to the Problems in the American Banking System: Islamic Banking', Journal of Academic Research in Economics, 15(2), pp. 317–336. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=b00617ca-589d-34d6-8e62-262ef8f56a41 (Accessed: 11 January 2024).

Tiwari, P., Bandyopadhyay, S.N. and Giri, A. (2023) 'Factors Influencing Employees' Retention in Healthcare Organizations of West Bengal: An Empirical Study', Parikalpana: KIIT Journal of Management, 19(2), pp. 31–44. doi:10.23862/kiit-parikalpana/2023/v19/i2/223459.

Toh, M.Y. and Jia, D. (2023) 'Determinants of Bank Liquidity Creation: A Comparison between Islamic Banks and Conventional Banks in a Dual Banking System', Singapore Economic Review, 68(3), pp. 963–999. doi:10.1142/S0217590821500053.

Untaru, E.-N. *et al.* (2024) 'Biophilic Design and Its Effectiveness in Creating Emotional Well-Being, Green Satisfaction, and Workplace Attachment Among Healthcare Professionals: The Hospice Context', Health Environments Research and Design Journal, 17(1), pp. 190–208. doi:10.1177/19375867231192087.

Usman, K. (2019) 'Impact of Organizational Culture, Organizational Communication and Supervisor Support on the Job Satisfaction of Employees Working in Online IT Based Distance Learning Institutions of Pakistan', Open Praxis, 11(2), pp. 143–156. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=d8c4d185-459d-3763-a182-bfc17e1a87c5 (Accessed: 03 January 2024).

Utami, D.L.A., Sudiro, A. and Noermijati (2023) 'The mediating role of employee engagement in the relationship between self-efficacy and organizational support on employee performance', International Journal of Research in Business & Social Science, 12(5), pp. 151–163. doi:10.20525/ijrbs.v12i5.2679.

Van Laer, K. and Essers, C. (2024) 'The Regulation of Religion by Secular Work Practice: Exploring Muslim Employees' Performance of Religious Practice', Journal of Management, 50(3), pp. 1002–1028. doi:10.1177/01492063231161344.

Yadav R., Yadav M. and Vihari N.S. (2024) 'High-Performance Work System and Learning Orientation in Offline, Online, and Hybrid Workplaces: The Mediating Role of Affective Commitment', Learning Organization, 31(1), pp. 122–136. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=803d952f-6161-31c8-8281-a24640ebb79d (Accessed: 17 April 2024).

Yıldız, S. *et al.* (2024) 'Exploring the Interplay of Competition and Justice: A Moderated Mediation Model of Competitive Psychological Climate, Workplace Envy, Interpersonal Citizenship Behavior, and Organizational Justice', Behavioral Sciences, 14(1). doi:10.3390/bs14010005.

Yuvika Singh and Shivinder Phoolka (2024) 'Unleashing the Creative Spark: The Mediating Role of Employee Work Engagement on the Relationship between Employee Training and Creativity', International Journal of Educational Management, 38(2), pp. 429–446. Available at: https://research.ebsco.com/linkprocessor/plink?id=07805d76-d237-335a-ba92-f6963203b1f5 (Accessed: 07 January 2024).

Zhu, Z. *et al.* (2022) 'Is shooting for fairness always beneficial? The influence of promotion fairness on employees' cognitive and emotional reactions to promotion failure', Human Resource Management, 61(6), pp. 643–661. doi:10.1002/hrm.22110.

Appendix Interview Questions

1. Can you tell me about your experience working in an Islamic bank and your ideas about it?

2. Before you started working at a Participation Bank, did you know that there is an organization that works within the framework of Islamic rules? How did the religious influence in the bank's business culture affect your decision to start working here?

3. How does working within the rules of your religion affect your motivation?

4. If you were working in a company with a different culture, do you think there would be a change in your motivation and engagement level? How would this affect you professionally and emotionally?

5. How would you feel and what would you do if you received a job offer that would be better for your career or financial situation? (e.g. a promotion or a higher salary)

6. In your opinion, are Participation Banks different from other organizations? So what are the issues that make it different?

7. If you were to relate your relationship with your colleagues to the general culture of the company, what kind of interaction do you think there is between these issues?

8. What is the religious impact of your organization on you? How does this situation affect you emotionally?

9. What is the impact of the Human Resources practices in your organization on the company's culture and on you?

10. What do you think will be the consequences of issues such as religion affecting the culture in companies that may be sensitive for people?

*Background questions: age, education level, position in the company, religious belief, professional competencies, length of professional career

Data Privacy and Policy Document

My name is Fatih Karademir, and I am conducting this research as part of my master's Dissertation in HR Management at National College of Ireland. Through this interview, I am attempting to explore the impact of organizational cultures of Participation Banks in Turkey to their employee's motivation, engagement and Hr policies including retention strategies.

This meeting will be recorded but I will ask for your consent for all the data processed and used. Participation and data collected will be confidential and anonymous. This study will not use any identifying information, such as your name, email address, company, or IP address. All data and responses will be stored in a password protected folder, on a password protected laptop, and will only be used for the purpose of this research. As per, NCI's Data Protection Policy, data will be securely stored for a maximum of 5 years, after which it will be destroyed.

Participation is completely voluntary, and if at any point you wish to stop, simply exit the Microsoft teams, or ask me to stop.

If you have any further questions about the research, please do not hesitate to contact me (Fatih Karademir) via email at fatihkarademirr@icloud.com. Alternatively, you can also contact the research supervisor (Pauline Kelly Phelan) via email at Pauline.KellyPhelan@ncirl.ie. I will share these information about the data policy through your email address.